NO. 74201-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In Re:

MARITAL TRUST B CREATED UNDER THE LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT OF FELECIA A. GRAHAM DATED OCTOBER 26, 1988 F/B/O FREDERICK A. GRAHAM,

BANK OF AMERICA,

Respondent,

adv.

FREDERICK A. GRAHAM,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mark S. Davidson, WSBA #06430 Stanbery Foster, Jr., WSBA #01996 Attorneys for Appellant WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101-2380 Ph. (206) 628-6600

Fx: (206) 628-6611

Email: mdavidson@williamskastner.com sfoster@williamskastner.com

I. INTRODUCTION

Frederick Graham¹ is the lifetime beneficiary of a trust established by his deceased mother. He also owns and controls the residuary beneficiary, his estate. The Trust directed the Trustee, Bank of America, N.A., to make discretionary annual distributions at a level sufficient to allow Mr. Graham to continue living at the level to which he was accustomed. When the Trustee decided to reduce distributions below that level, Mr. Graham objected. The Trustee justified its decision, in part, by asserting that Mr. Graham's estate has an independent interest in the corpus of the Trust in conflict with Mr. Graham's interest, which the Trustee had an obligation to protect. Mr. Graham contended that because he owns and controls the interest of his estate, it cannot be in conflict with his interest as a life beneficiary, correctly distinguishing the "interest" of the heirs/devisees of the estate, which is not cognizable at law.

The Trustee, which is statutorily required to remain neutral when there is more than one trust beneficiary, sought and obtained the appointment of a Special Representative to represent the estate. However, instead of allowing the Special Representative to advocate against Mr. Graham's position, the Trustee actively, aggressively and improperly

¹ The Trustee, respondent here, was the petitioner below by virtue of having initiated the trial court action by filing a Petition for Instructions. Mr. Graham, appellant here, was the respondent below. The parties are referenced by name in this Brief.

advocated that Mr. Graham's two interests are separate and distinct, that they conflict, and that the estate's separate interest must be taken into account by the Trustee when deciding the amount of discretionary distributions to be made to Mr. Graham.

On cross-motions for partial summary judgment, the trial court agreed that two separate interests exist, but that, for purposes of the distribution issue, no conflict existed and Mr. Graham could virtually represent the interest of his estate. While dismissing the Special Representative, its order left open the question of whether a conflict could exist as to other issues, including whether a new appointment of a Special Representative or *guardian ad litem* would be required for purposes of settlement negotiations. The trial court's order also authorized the Trustee's attorney's fees to be paid from the trust.

The Trustee subsequently moved for summary judgment dismissal of Mr. Graham's remaining claims, including his claim that because it had breached its fiduciary duties of neutrality and loyalty, the Trustee must be required to reimburse the Trust for the fees it paid itself and the attorney's fees it incurred in advocating against his position. Mr. Graham filed a cross-motion for summary judgment of liability on these claims. The trial court dismissed Mr. Graham's breach of fiduciary duty claims and ordered

that the Trustee's fees and its attorney's fees in bringing its summary judgment motion were to be paid from the Trust.

Mr. Graham timely appealed the trial court's orders.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in entering its February 10, 2015, Order Granting Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment, Denying Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, and Denying Relief Under CR 56(f).²
- 2. The trial court erred in entering its March 6, 2015, Order Denying Frederick A. Graham's Motion for Reconsideration.
- 3. The trial court erred in entering its October 9, 2015, Order Granting Trustee's Motion for Summary Judgment on Remaining Claims and Denying Respondent's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Where the heirs/devisees of Mr. Graham's estate have no legally cognizable interest in the Trust, and the only cognizable interests are owned and controlled by Mr. Graham and therefore cannot conflict, did the trial court commit an error of law by recognizing a separate and distinct interest not controlled by Mr. Graham?
 - 2. Where the Trustee advocated against Mr. Graham's

² The Order was filed on February 12, 2015. CP 434.

position that he owns and controls the only cognizable interests in the trust, both erroneously and in breach of its fiduciary duty of neutrality between beneficiaries, did the trial court commit an error of law in ordering that the Trustee's attorney's fees for that advocacy be paid from the Trust?

- 3. Where the Trustee advocated against the interest of its beneficiary in violation of its fiduciary duty, did the trial court commit an error of law by dismissing the beneficiary's claim for breach of fiduciary duty and by failing to grant his motion for summary judgment of liability as to that claim?
- 4. Where the Trustee violated its fiduciary duty, did the trial court commit an error of law by failing to require the Trustee to reimburse the Trust for its fees and attorney's fees?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>The Trustee's Petition for Instructions, Mr. Graham's Response and the Trustee's Reply.</u>

On January 3, 2001, Felecia A. Graham died a resident of King County. Her will established a trust for the benefit of her husband, Donald Graham, Jr., with the remainder interest bequeathed equally to her two sons ("Marital Trust B"). CP 11 - 23 (§IV.B). In 2013, Donald Graham, Jr., relinquished his lifetime interest in Marital Trust B via a binding non-judicial agreement. This relinquishment resulted in Marital Trust B being

divided into two subtrusts, one for each of his two sons. Mr. Graham became the sole lifetime beneficiary of one of the subtrusts, which is the subject of this action (the "Trust"). Bank of America, N.A., became the trustee. CP 26-27. The Trust directs the Trustee to pay Trust income to Mr. Graham and authorizes discretionary distributions of principal if the income payments are insufficient to provide for his "proper support in his...accustomed manner of living...." CP 13. Upon Mr. Graham's death, his interest "shall be distributed as he shall appoint or provide by his will or, in the absence of such appointment or provision, to his estate." CP 17.

The income from the Trust proved to be insufficient to provide support to Mr. Graham in his accustomed manner of living. Citing "the beneficial interest of the remaindermen of the Trust" among other factors, the Trustee declined to distribute principal sufficient to make up the difference. CP 53. A dispute arose because the Trustee failed to authorize principal distributions sufficient to make up the difference. Mr. Graham disputed the Trustee's assertion that the interest of the "remaindermen" is separate and distinct from and in conflict with his own interest. His position was and is that there can be no conflict because he owns and controls the remainder interest since he has the general power to appoint the remainder to any person (or, if he makes no appointment, the

remainder will pass to his estate and he has the exclusive right of disposition of estate assets). CP 1-2.

The Trustee recognized that "those interested in Mr. Graham's estate" cannot be ascertained until his death. CP 2. The problem was that it proceeded to conflate Mr. Graham's estate with those takers from the estate, assuming and asserting that the estate has an interest "separate and distinct" from and in conflict with Mr. Graham's interest. Mr. Graham contended that recognizing an interest in his estate separate and distinct and possibly in conflict with his own equates with recognizing a present interest in his heirs and devisees, a proposition which has been squarely rejected by the courts. Because Mr. Graham was correct, the Trustee should have considered only his interest in making determinations as to discretionary distributions of principal. In addition, he and the Trustee may enter into a Non-Judicial Agreement pursuant to RCW 11.96A.220 to resolve their dispute without having a guardian ad litem appointed to represent any other party.

The Trustee agreed that appointees under a testamentary general power of appointment have no interest in the Trust. CP 153, n.3. And although Mr. Graham indisputably has no heirs during his lifetime, the Trustee nevertheless disputed Mr. Graham's contention that his interest is

the only interest it may consider in administering the Trust, apparently conflating the estate with the non-existent heirs.

In September 2014, Mr. Graham and the Trust attempted to resolve the dispute by negotiation. Alleging that the interest of Mr. Graham's estate "is separate and distinct from that of Mr. Graham," CP 2, the Trustee petitioned the King County Superior Court for appointment of a Special Representative to represent that interest in the negotiations. CP 1– 23. An ex parte order was granted on September 23, 2014, appointing William L. Fleming as Special Representative. CP 24–25. The negotiations were unsuccessful, and, pursuant to TEDRA, on October 1, 2014, the Trustee filed a Petition for Instructions. CP 26–51. Alleging again that the estate has a beneficial interest in the Trust which conflicts with Mr. Graham's interest, the Trust sought appointment of Mr. Fleming as guardian ad litem to represent the estate's interest in the dispute. CP 29-33. Mr. Fleming agreed to serve in that capacity and to continue to serve as Special Representative for purposes of any future Non-Judicial Agreement regarding the Trust. CP 57–58.

The Petition alleged that Mr. Graham's interest in maximizing discretionary distributions of principal conflicted with the interest of his estate in preserving principal until his death. CP 29–33. The Petition referred to the estate's remainder interest as an "unascertained yet vested"

remainder interest" and the owners of that interest as "unascertained vested remainder beneficiaries." CP 28–29. The use of this terminology reflects the Trustee's erroneous understanding as to the owner of the interest it purportedly seeks to protect: The estate is both singular and ascertainable; the takers from the estate are neither.³

Mr. Graham's Response to the Petition denied the existence of a beneficial interest in the Trust separate, distinct and in conflict with his own and asked for a hearing on that issue. CP 59–100 at 63–64. In addition, Mr. Graham alleged that by advocating against him and in favor of the remainder beneficiary, and by refusing to allow his attorney's fees to be paid by the Trust, the Trustee violated its statutory fiduciary duties of loyalty and of neutrality between beneficiaries. He alleged that these violations precluded the Trustee from using Trust funds to pay its fees and its attorney's fees, exposed it to liability for damages, and required it to pay Mr. Graham's attorney's fees. CP 74-78.

³ The Trustee also requested an order approving the stochastic method it utilized in calculating discretionary principal distributions. CP 36. Upon his father's death, Mr. Graham stands to inherit a substantial amount, which should be sufficient to provide for his support at that time. CP 54. Because the Trustee's methodology for discretionary distributions during Mr. Graham's father's lifetime assumed his father would live for an additional nine years, to age 101, as to which there was only a five percent probability, CP 55, Mr. Graham disputed it. CP 68-73. The trial court granted the Trustee's motion for summary judgment on that issue. CP 342. Because Mr. Graham does not challenge that ruling on appeal, he does not discuss the methodology issue further in this Brief.

In its Reply, the Trustee agreed that the nature and extent of the remainder interest "is a threshold issue that determines the proper parties to this matter." CP 101–107 at 102. One obvious reason that the question is a threshold issue is that any Non-Judicial Agreement respecting the Trust, including one resolving a dispute between the Trustee and any beneficiary, must be signed by all parties. RCW 11.96A.220. Also in its Reply, the Trustee denied that it had violated its duty of loyalty. CP 105.

After a hearing on December 5, 2014, Commissioner Nancy Bradburn-Johnson referred the threshold issue of "the nature, extent, and representation of the remainder interest" to the trial court. CP 108–10.

B. The Initial Cross-Motions for Partial Summary Judgment.

On January 9, 2015, Mr. Graham and the Trustee filed cross-motions for summary judgment. CP 111–43; 144-81. Mr. Graham's motion asked the trial court to determine that there is no Trust interest separate from and in conflict with his own. CP 112. In its motion, the Trustee assumed there are unascertained remaindermen beneficiaries of the Trust with an interest independent from and in conflict with Mr. Graham's interest. CP 152-55. It identified the unascertained interest holder as Mr. Graham's "Estate," while simultaneously acknowledging that his estate does not exist until Mr. Graham's death. CP 153. The Trustee also acknowledged that Mr. Graham's heirs and devisees

(remaindermen of the estate, not of the Trust) have no interest in the Trust and no present interest in the estate. CP 153, n.3. Nevertheless, the Trustee asserted a conflict of interest exists between the interests which disqualifies Mr. Graham from representing both. CP 154. It asked the trial court to order that a vested remainder interest exists and requires continuing independent representation by Mr. Fleming as Guardian ad Litem. CP 155.

Mr. Fleming as GAL filed a brief memorandum in support of the Trustee's position, noting the absence of legal authority in Washington or elsewhere bearing directly on the question at issue, but also conflating the purported interest of the estate urged by the Trustee with the interests of the takers (the heirs or devisees, i.e., appointees under Mr. Graham's general testamentary power of appointment or the ultimate beneficiaries of his estate). CP 227-30 at 228. The GAL also confused the vested remainder interest in the Trust urged by the Trustee with "a vested remainder interest in Mr. Graham's estate...." CP 228. Finally, he agreed with the Trustee that if the court found a second beneficial interest, such interest would conflict with Mr. Graham's interest with regard to discretionary principal distributions because, to the extent that such distributions are made to him during his lifetime, "there will be less remaining in the Trust ...after his death." CP 228-29.

An inconsistency in the Trustee's argument arose from its Reply in support of partial summary judgment. In his Reply Declaration, James K. Gallagher, the trust officer at Bank of America with responsibility for the Trust, averred that "in developing the discretionary distribution plan, preservation of the Trust's principal for remainder beneficiaries has not been the goal." CP 335-36. This averment apparently sought to minimize or dismiss the dispute between the parties and thereby disarm Mr. Graham's challenge to the Trustee's decision not to make distributions which would allow him to maintain his standard of living as contemplated by the trustor. However, the averment plainly contradicted the Trustee's acknowledged duty to adhere to its fiduciary duties to all classes of beneficiaries, CP 232, since, if a separate, distinct and conflicting remainder interest exists, the Trustee would have a fiduciary duty to preserve principal for that interest. Thus, unless Mr. Gallagher was admitting to a violation of that duty, his declaration cannot be reconciled with the Trustee's contention that a separate remainder interest exists in conflict with Mr. Graham's interest.

Significantly, however, Mr. Gallagher's Reply Declaration did not retract the Trustee's contention that a Special Representative/GAL must be appointed to sign any Non-Judicial Agreement. CP 2. That contention is consistent with the Trustee's continuing assertion that Mr. Graham's

estate has a separate and independent interest different from and in conflict with Mr. Graham's interest, an assertion which cannot be reconciled with Mr. Gallagher's statement that it is not the goal of the Trustee to preserve principal for the remainder beneficiaries.

By order dated February 10, 2015, the trial court denied Mr. Graham's motion and granted the Trustee's motion, making the express determination that "there is a separate remainder interest," which it referred to as the "unascertained remaindermen." CP 340-44 at 342. However, in denying the Trustee's request for appointment of a GAL and in obvious reliance upon Mr. Gallagher's unlikely averment, the court found that "both the objective of the Trustor and the plan of distribution encompass the possibility that little or nothing will remain for the unascertained remaindermen when the life interest terminates." CP 342. For that reason, the court found no conflict between the remainder interest and Mr. Graham's interest as the lifetime beneficiary, holding that, "under such circumstances," Mr. Graham "may virtually represent the remainder interest." Id. Critically, however, it added, "If circumstances arise where there is a conflict between the parties, either party may seek further relief from the Court, including appointment of a GAL." CP 342-43.

The order sought to give something to each side: It recognized a separate remainder interest but found that that interest is not in conflict

with Mr. Graham's interest as to the issue of discretionary principal distributions, *id.*, despite the fact that principal distributions to him will result in "less remaining in the Trust for whoever will receive the remaining Trust assets after his death...." CP 228. Moreover, the order dodged the question of whether Mr. Graham could virtually represent the "other" interest for other issues, including and perhaps of paramount importance, the issue of whether Mr. Graham and the Trustee may enter into a Non-Judicial Agreement without securing the appointment, approval and signature of a GAL.

In denying Mr. Graham's subsequently filed Motion for Reconsideration, the trial court elaborated on its earlier order, stating that it "agrees [with the Trustee's position that] there is a separate remainder interest," and that the Trust "creates unascertainable remainder beneficiaries as posited by the Trustee." CP 357-58.

C. The Subsequent Cross-Motions Summary Judgment.

On September 4, 2015, the Trustee moved for summary judgment as to all remaining claims, asserting, *inter alia*, that Mr. Graham's claims for breach of fiduciary duty should be dismissed as a matter of law. CP 359-74. More specifically, it asserted that the trial court's earlier ruling agreeing with the Trustee that a separate remainder interest exists "resolved" Mr. Graham's breach of fiduciary duty claim insofar as it

related to the duty of impartiality. CP 364. The Trustee also argued that the earlier ruling approving the distribution methodology implicitly resolved the claim for breach of loyalty. *Id.* Finally, it argued that because it was statutorily authorized to petition the court for instructions, doing so had not violated its fiduciary duty to its beneficiary. CP 367-70.

Mr. Graham opposed the motion and filed a cross-motion asking the court to determine the Trustee's liability for breach of fiduciary duty as a matter of law, to require the Trustee to reimburse the Trust for its fees and attorney's fees which had been paid from the Trust, and to require it to pay Mr. Graham's attorney's fees. CP 375-409.

Based on oral findings and conclusions made at the October 9, 2015, hearing on the cross-motions, VRP 24-25, the trial court entered an order dismissing the remaining claims.⁴ The court's determinative finding was that the Trustee had merely petitioned for a judicial determination as to the existence of a present remainder interest and what the Trustee's obligation to it was, distinguishing case law holding that where there are two competing beneficiaries, a trustee may not take a position in conflict with one of them. *Id*.

This appeal followed.

⁴ It did, however, subsequently enter two orders directing that Mr. Graham's attorney's fees should be paid from the Trust. Those orders were not appealed by the Trustee.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

The standard of review of the summary judgment orders which are the subject of this appeal is *de novo*, and the appellate court performs the same inquiry as the trial court. *Smith v. Safeco Insurance Co.*, 150 Wn.2d 478, 483, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003).

B. The Threshold Issue of the Parties in Interest Was Erroneously

Determined Because Only Mr. Graham Has an Interest in Mr.

Graham's Property.

As succinctly stated by the Trustee in its Reply to Mr. Graham's Response to the Petition:

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