No. 74201-9-I

---

---

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I  
STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

---

In Re:

MARITAL TRUST B CREATED UNDER THE LAST WILL AND  
TESTAMENT OF FELECIA A. GRAHAM DATED OCTOBER 26,  
1988 F/B/O FREDERICK A. GRAHAM,

FREDERICK A. GRAHAM,

Appellant,

v.

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,

Respondent.

---

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

---

Mathew Harrington (WSBA #33276)  
Karolyn Hicks (WSBA #30418)  
RoseMary Reed (WSBA #34497)  
STOKES LAWRENCE, P.S.  
1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3000  
Seattle, Washington 98101-2393  
(206) 626-6000  
Mathew.Harrington@stokeslaw.com  
Karolyn.Hicks@stokeslaw.com  
Rosemary.Reed@stokeslaw.com  
Attorneys for Respondent

FILED

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

### **III. ARGUMENT**

#### **A. The Trial Court Was Correct that a "Separate Remainder Interest" Exists**

Under the terms of the Trust, the Trustee may invade the Trust's principal only under certain circumstances. These distributions are not automatic and are allowed only where the income from the Trust is "insufficient to provide for the proper support in [the beneficiary's] accustomed manner of living." CP 13. Importantly, this determination is to be made "in the judgment of the Trustee." *Id.* A trustee's primary duty

is to manage a trust in accordance with trustor's intent while abiding by its fiduciary duties to the beneficiaries. RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TRUSTS § 70. Here, the Trustor's intent was to provide income from the Trust to support her son for his lifetime, while considering the resources available to him outside of the Trust. CP 11-18. These types of provisions are often used when the trustor intends the trust principal to be maintained intact before it is passed to the next set of beneficiaries.

Currently, there are two vested interests in the Trust. First, Mr. Graham has a lifetime beneficial interest in the Trust. Second, Mr. Graham's estate is the default remainder beneficiary of the Trust receiving its interest upon Mr. Graham's death. The Trust provides that upon Mr. Graham's death, his interest in the Trust "shall be distributed as he shall appoint or provide by his will or, in the absence of such appointment or provision, to his estate." CP 17. In default of the exercise of this general power of appointment, Mr. Graham's estate is to receive the remaining Trust assets. *Id.* Under Washington law, a testamentary general power of appointment may only be exercised by the power holder's valid Will. RCW 11.95.060(2). It is unknown to the Trustee whether Mr. Graham has exercised his power of appointment; regardless, a Will is an ambulatory document and thus is not effective until the testator dies. *See, e.g., In re Hall's Estate*, 159 Wash. 236, 241, 292 P.



401 (1930). Thus, Mr. Graham's estate has a vested remainder interest in the Trust that is subject to divestment.

The estate of Frederick Graham, of course, does not exist until Frederick Graham's death, making the remainder beneficiary of the Trust currently unascertainable. Any exercise of the power of appointment could be changed up until Mr. Graham's death. Yet the fact that the beneficiaries may be unascertainable does not destroy the validity of their interests. RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TRUSTS § 44. Indeed, for a trust to be valid and to create a beneficial interest, "[i]t is not necessary that the intended beneficiary or beneficiaries be known at the time of the creation of the trust," only that they be ascertainable "at the time when a question of the trust's continuance is to be resolved." *Id.* at Comment a.<sup>4</sup> Here, Mr. Graham's estate (and more specifically the parties who will receive the assets of the estate) will become ascertainable when he dies. That is all the law requires in order to establish a valid beneficial interest in a trust.

Because Mr. Graham's estate has a valid beneficial interest in the Trust, it had to be represented in the proceedings below and in any matter

---

<sup>4</sup> See also 2/6/15 VRP at 28:22-29:2 (GAL William Fleming observing "I think on balance, I agree with the trustee's position. It's inherent in the nature of the trust that there's a life interest and there's a remainder interest. I am not persuaded by the arguments that an estate is merely a bundle of rights and that the personal representative may have no cause of action against a trustee who has distributed all the assets of a trust before the beneficiary's death.").

as defined by TEDRA. RCW 11.96A.030(2) & (5) (defining “matter” and “party”). It is true that in many contexts — for example, if he were to request an accounting from the Trustee — Mr. Graham would be able to virtually represent the estate’s interest pursuant to RCW 11.96A.120 (i.e., because his interest and that of the remainder beneficiaries would be wholly aligned). However, where a conflict of interest exists between the representative and the represented party, virtual representation is not permissible or effective. RCW 11.96A.120(9); *see also* RESTATEMENT (FIRST) OF PROPERTY §§ 183(c), 185 (1936); Uniform Trust Code §§ 302-304 (attached hereto as Appendix A). Here, there is a direct and inherent conflict of interest between Mr. Graham and his estate because any discretionary distribution made by the Trustee to Mr. Graham would necessarily reduce the estate’s interest in the Trust. A dollar distributed to the lifetime beneficiary is a dollar that the remainder beneficiary or beneficiaries will never enjoy.

The fact that Mr. Graham has a testamentary general power of appointment does not change the fact that he cannot virtually represent the estate in the face of a conflict of interest. The official comments to RCW 11.96A.120, which were adopted as part of TEDRA in 1999 (attached hereto as Appendix B), state:

For the purposes of this provision, a “conflict” exists only if the party who would be the virtual representative has significantly different economic interests in the matter in issue from those of the parties being virtually represented. If the matter in issue is purely administrative in character (e.g., a change, addition or replacement of Trustee), no conflict exists for the purposes of this provision.

In an article on the subject, the principal drafters of TEDRA have provided an example of such a conflict of interest. They opine that a conflict exists between a life beneficiary and the remaindermen regarding principal distributions to the life beneficiary. In such circumstances, a Special Representative (or Guardian ad Litem) needs to be appointed to represent the remaindermen who were unborn, incompetent or unascertained. Bruce P. Flynn, Richard A. Klobucher, and Douglas C. Lawrence, *Nonjudicial Dispute Resolution Agreements in Trusts and Estates - The Washington Experience and a Proposed Act*, 20 ACTEC Journal 138, 141 (1994) (attached hereto as Appendix C).

RCW 11.96A.120(9), which was adopted in 2011 and modified in 2013, expressly supports this position. The statute was based on the Uniform Trust Code (“UTC”) § 302, which similarly precludes representation by a power holder if a conflict exists:

Typically, the holder of a general testamentary power of appointment is also a life income beneficiary of the trust ... Without the exception for conflict of interest, the holder of the power

could act in a way that could enhance the holder's income interests to the detriment of the appointees or takers in default, whoever they may be.

Comments to UTC § 302 (Appendix B). While the Comment specifically refers to the power-holder acting to enhance his flow of *income*, the same statement can be made regarding enhancing *principal* distributions. In fact, this is an even more obvious conflict of interest. Here, the matter ultimately at issue is an economic one; a benefit to Mr. Graham, as the life beneficiary, negatively impacts the remainder beneficiary because a discretionary distribution to Mr. Graham reduces the Trust principal.

Moreover, the virtual representation statute provides that

To the extent there is no conflict of interest between the holder of the power of appointment and the persons represented with respect to the particular question or dispute, the holder of a lifetime or testamentary power of appointment may virtually represent and bind persons who are permissible appointees or takers in default (but only to the extent that they are permissible appointees in the case of a limited power of appointment) under the power, and who are not permissible distributees as defined in RCW 11.98.002.

RCW 11.96A.120(9) (emphasis added). The statute expressly provides that “persons who are permissible appointees or takers in default” may be virtually represented. Mr. Graham's estate is a taker in default. That implies that under Washington law, the estate has an interest — in fact, it is the kind of interest expressly discussed in the virtual representation

statute. If there is a conflict, the taker in default (the estate) cannot be virtually represented by Mr. Graham. Mr. Graham cannot argue that the conflicts of interest analysis does not apply to his estate, because the plain language of the virtual representation statute provides otherwise.<sup>5</sup>

Mr. Graham makes the argument that his Estate is bound by his decisions and that the Trustee is therefore protected from a lawsuit by his Estate or its beneficiaries. Appellant's Br. at 22 (citing RESTATEMENT (SECOND) TRUSTS § 216) ("a beneficiary cannot hold the trustee liable for an act or omission of the trustee as a breach of trust if the beneficiary prior to or at the time of the act or omission consented to it."). The quote from the Restatement, however, has no bearing on whether the Estate or another beneficiary could sue the Trustee, only on whether Mr. Graham can later sue the Trustee (*e.g.*, if it made the distributions he requested and the Trust ran out of funds before he receives his inheritance from Donald Graham, Jr.'s death). Case law shows that the Trustee could be sued by a

---

<sup>5</sup> The trial court held that while the remainder beneficiary does have a separate cognizable interest, no conflict existed on these facts because of the possibility that little or nothing would remain for the remainder beneficiary upon Mr. Graham's death. CP 342-43. The Court reserved ruling on whether a conflict might arise in the future. *Id.* This may not have been technically correct, because it is unlikely that the Trust will exhaust precisely when Mr. Graham passes away. Thus, as argued above, there is a conflict between Mr. Graham as the life interest and the remainder interest when it comes to distributions of principal. In any event, the issue is of no moment for this case because the remainder interest was represented and was heard in the trial court. If a conflict of interest arises with regard to future modifications to the Trust, the parties may seek representation of that interest via a special representative or GAL.

subsequent beneficiary. In *State ex. rel. Beardsley v. London & Lancashire Indemnity Co. of America*, the court held that a remainderman could sue a trustee where the beneficiary consented, even when the beneficiary had a general power of appointment. 124 Conn. 416, 200 A. 567 (1938). In *Beardsley*, as here, the beneficiary held a lifetime interest in the trust's income and a general power of appointment that defaulted to her estate if unexercised. She ultimately exercised the power of appointment and was also the trustee of the trust. When she died a few years later it was discovered that the majority of the trust corpus had been lost due to inappropriate investments. The appointees of the remainder interest sued on a trustee's bond, which the bond company defended by arguing that because the trustee consented to the investments, the appointees were bound by her decisions. The court rejected this argument, recognizing that the lifetime beneficiary only had the benefit of the property and the right to appoint it, but never truly owned it. 200 A. at 569 (the rights of the "appointees and beneficiaries were derived from the [original will] and they receive the property thereunder, and from his estate; the legal title to the appointed property never vested in [the beneficiary], the life tenant and donee of the power"). *Beardsley* directly contradicts Mr. Graham's assertion that, because he holds a general power of appointment, his life interest in the Trust and the remainder interest are

the same. Moreover, *Beardsley* makes clear that the appointees (the remainder beneficiar(ies)) derive their rights not from Frederick Graham, the interim beneficiary, but from his mother Felicia Graham, the original testator.

In sum, Mr. Graham and the Trustee agree that Mr. Graham holds the authority to choose *who* receives the Trust assets upon his death. But this is not the same as the authority to choose *whether* any assets remain in the Trust. It is also not the same as the authority to decide *who* receives assets *now*, before Mr. Graham's death. The Trust document provides that the Trustee has certain duties to two interests: Frederick Graham as life beneficiary, and to the unascertained, vested remaindermen of that interest (in this case, more specifically, his estate). The trial court understood this distinction and agreed that a "separate remainder interest" existed. CP 342; 357-58.

**B. Mr. Graham's Argument That He Alone Controls the Interest Ignores the Spendthrift Clause**

Mr. Graham's attempts to conflate the two interests in the Trust, lifetime and remainder, into one, and his arguments that he can control those interests because he "owns" the remainder should be flatly rejected. Mr. Graham does not own any portion of the Trust as such ownership is

specifically rejected by the Trust's spendthrift clause. CP 18 (Will, Article IV.C.2). The spendthrift clause provides:

No disposition, charge or encumbrance of either the Income or principal of the trust estates, or any part thereof by any beneficiary under these trusts by way of anticipation shall be of any validity or legal effect, or be In anyway regarded by the Trustee, and neither the Income nor principal of the trust estates, nor any part thereof, shall In anyway be liable to any claim of any creditor of any beneficiary.

CP 18.

Mr. Graham's repeated statements,<sup>6</sup> that he owns the remainder interest because he has a general power of appointment which in default of his exercise pays the remainder to his estate, cannot be reconciled with the Trust's spendthrift clause. At its core the purpose of a spendthrift clause is to give the beneficiary something *less* than 100% of the property rights in the asset, thereby precluding the beneficiary from controlling the asset or from having it accessible by his creditors. This particular spendthrift clause specifically directs the Trustee to disregard the beneficiaries "anticipation" of income and principal of the trust. Bogert on Trusts states "it has been sometimes said that a property owner may give away all or any part of his property, and that by creating a spendthrift trust he is

---

<sup>6</sup> See *e.g.*, CP 114-20; 243; 253-54; 279-88; Appellant's Br. at 15-24.



giving the beneficiary only a partial interest.” Helene S. Shapo et al., LAW OF TRUSTS & TRUSTEES, § 222 at 396 (3d ed. 2007).

The spendthrift clause clearly precludes Mr. Graham from alienating the trust property — principal and income — during his life. If he cannot alienate it now, then he does not own it now. It is fundamental property law that when one owns something, he has the right to possess it, to exclude others, and to dispose of it. *Presbytery v. King County*, 114 Wn.2d 320, 329-30, 787 P.2d 907 (1990), *cert. denied*, 489 U.S. 911 (1990). By using a spendthrift clause that specifically precluded Mr. Graham from disposing of the Trust property, his mother intentionally did not give him all the rights of ownership. If he owned 100% of the property rights then this Trust would either not exist at all or it would exist but *not* be a spendthrift trust (it would be more akin to a revocable trust), and his creditors would be able to reach all the assets in the Trust.

The seminal case on spendthrift provisions of trusts in Washington is *Erickson v. Bank of Cal., N.A.*, 97 Wn.2d 246, 643 P.2d. 670 (1982). While originally a bankruptcy case, it was transferred to the Washington courts to decide an issue of state law. The key question was to what extent a creditor of a beneficiary of a trust can access the assets of the trust to satisfy the beneficiary’s debts. The beneficiary in that case intentionally accumulated debt (mostly for medical care) and then filed for bankruptcy

to defraud his creditors. The court held that a creditor who has provided the necessities of life can reach the trust assets to be repaid for providing those necessities since a purpose of the trust was to provide the necessities of life. *Id.* at 251-52. Otherwise, the trust is not available to creditors in bankruptcy. As the Court explained:

Ordinarily, a property owner has the power to dispose of his property as he wishes, as long as he does not violate public policy. The owner and donor of the property should be free to select the trust beneficiary who will enjoy his bounty, and should be able to put enforceable provisions in the trust which will prevent his trust beneficiary from voluntarily conveying or assigning his interest, thus precluding any creditor from taking that interest away from the beneficiary.

*Id.* at 250.

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